
Meeting Date:  September 2, 2008  1 of 19 

SELINSGROVE BOROUGH COUNCIL MEETING 
 

MONDAY, SEPTEMBER 2, 2008 - 7:00 P.M. 
 
 
COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT:  Pres. C. Handlan, V. Pres. J. Herb, C/P D. Anderson, 
C/P S. Hendricks, C/P M. Inch, C/P D. Mengel, and C/P E. Viker 
 
COUNCIL MEMBERS ABSENT:  None 
 
OTHERS PRESENT:  Solicitor R. Cravitz; Mgr. J. Bickhart; Mayor P. Carroll; Junior C/P Morgan Botdorf; 
Police Chief T. Garlock; Borough Treasurer Sheri Badman; Recording Secretary Dawne Long; Daily Item 
Reporter Damien Gessel; American Legion Representative John Nace; Borough Residents Joseph and 
Margaret Siro, Ian Von Pelt; Main Street Manager Jessica Newell; Millerstown Resident Clair Kerstetter; 
Parks and Recreation Chairperson Dick Norman; Police Department Applicant Mike McLeod; SARI 
Representatives Brian Burke and Bob Soper; SPI Representative Judy Spiegel; SVTP Task Force 
Chairman Joe McGranaghan; Selinsgrove Chamber of Commerce Representative Diane Alderson; 
Verizon Representative Richard Williams 
 
OTHERS ABSENT:   None 
 
CALL MEETING TO ORDER: 
 
Pres. Handlan called the meeting to order at 7:00 P.M.  Mgr. Bickhart called the roll. 
 
REVIEW AND APPROVAL OF COUNCIL MINUTES FROM MEETING OF AUGUST 4, 2008: 
 
Mgr. Bickhart apologized for the absence of Sheet 18 of 18.  He is not sure what happened to it but no 
one received it.  Motion by C/P Viker to approve the minutes as presented.  Seconded by C/P Anderson. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 

Pres. Handlan asked who puts the minutes on the website, noting that June and July are not there.  Sheri 
stated there are some problems with the county server right now, so she will have to do it from home. 
 
PERSONS TO BE HEARD: 
 
Borough Police Chief, Thomas Garlock – Presentation of Police Report for May and June 2008 and 
Second Quarter 2008 – Chief Garlock stated by the next meeting his reports should be current.  He 
reported that since school is back in session there have been a minimum of two patrol cars out per 
weekend, with three cars out last weekend.  The issues have been manageable.  Mgr. Bickhart asked 
about a number of break-ins that he had heard about around town, and Chief Garlock indicated there 
were no more than usual.  He stated there were two college-related break-ins over the weekend and the 
student is no longer at Susquehanna.  Mgr. Bickhart also asked about the racial incidents that have 
occurred recently.  Chief Garlock indicated these were a series of atypical incidents, and they are being 
investigated.  The investigation is showing that it is not as serious an issue as the press is making it out to 
be.  As the Town/Gown Committee chair, C/P Viker stated that it is important to recognize that the 
university feels the understandable need to respond very quickly and very forcefully in showing support to 
students who have felt attacked or slurred or disenfranchised.  Therefore, there will be some strong words 
from the university administration which might make the incidences present as larger than they may be. 
 
Update on Injury to Officer Wolfberg – Chief Garlock reported that Officer Wolfberg has an 
appointment on September 16 at which time he will find out whether he will be released to return to duty 
or whether he will have to continue with treatments.  C/P Anderson asked if the part-time officer is being 
used.  Chief Garlock replied he is using the part-time officer very much.  Regarding the new part-time 
officer, he has to complete his paperwork and have his transfer of accreditation to the department 



Meeting Date:  September 2, 2008  2 of 19 

affirmed by the Municipal Police Officer Training Commission.  This is in process now and hopefully he 
will be onboard in time for the Market Street Festival.  C/P Mengel asked where the hiring of the fulltime 
officer stands.  Chief Garlock replied he is working on the background investigation.  He stated it is 
difficult to do this 2,600 miles away from the area in which it is centered.  This is a different type of 
background investigation from what he is used to doing, and it is the first time it has been done from that 
distance.  It is a high priority to move this forward.  Pres. Handlan stated that Chief Garlock has probably 
heard Council’s concerns from their last meeting.  Chief Garlock replied that he has, and he mirrors every 
concern that Council has, and he will expedite this through as soon as possible.  Pres. Handlan offered 
any assistance that Council is able to give.  Being the duty officer, Chief Garlock excused himself. 
 
DH&L Fire Company – No report 
 
Selinsgrove Area Recreation Inc., Brian Burke, Update on Bids Received, Funding, Project 
Schedule – Brian reported that the realistic project is noted as the Phase 1 or Base project.  Wade 
Associates was hired to do this base bid as well as some minor infrastructure improvements.  Three 
companies submitted bids on Tuesday, August 19.  Wade Associates has worked with all these 
companies and are recommending the low base bid as well as some other projects to be part of Phase 1, 
with the low bid being $463,800.  Brian stated that in an ideal world the pool board would be asking 
Council to award a bid tonight, but they are not prepared to do so.  Mgr. Bickhart will report on this a bit 
later.  Brian reported the bids were lower than what the engineer had anticipated by $75,000 to $100,000.  
Adding some more features as Phase 2 would increase the cost another $64,000 to a total of $527,800.  
This would allow additions of some water features including a tube slide.  All the piping is part of the 
infrastructure in the base bid so features can be added at any time depending upon the success of 
fundraising efforts.  Hopefully the public, when presented with the plan, will rally around the cause.  
Mgr. Bickhart summarized by stating that the pool board is proposing the $463,800 project.  There has 
been $231,000 in funds committed so far of the possible $250,000 DCNR matching grant, so this brings 
the total available funds to $462,000. 
 
Bob Soper, the first president of SARI, stated that about 40 years ago he came to Borough Council to ask 
for help in building a new community swimming pool.  At that time, the Council said they would assume 
the pool once it was debt free.  Bob asked for a better commitment for the community from the current 
Council tonight.  He stated that seven years after the pool was built the pool board returned to Council 
when Jim App was the Borough Manager, and Dr. Robert Grubb made a motion but Council declined to 
accept the pool.  Bob Soper stated that there is now a very good relationship between the pool board and 
the Borough.  He stated the feasibility study that was done came up with a figure of $1.25 million to do all 
the work that was needed.  The pool board went to Wade Associates, who had done the Middleburg Pool, 
for the more realistic estimate of $600-$700,000.  SPI has given the pool board permission to move 
ahead to raise funds.  So far the Degenstein Foundation has pledged $100,000 this year and $100,000 
next year.  The pool has raised funds of $11,000, making the total pledged $231,000 plus the matching 
DCNR grant, bringing the total currently available funds to $462,000.  Wade Associates’ fee is $32,000 
and the pool board feels the bath house can be made handicapped accessible for $50,000.  SUN Vo-
Tech helped out with this at the Middleburg Pool.  Last year Selinsgrove Borough gave the pool $17,000 
and volunteered Borough employees to help out with labor such as electrical work.  This year the pool 
board would like the Borough to contribute $27,000.  Penn Township declined to make a donation for 
operating expenses last year.  Bob feels they are more open this year, so he will be asking them for 
$16,000.  Monroe Township over the last four or five years has provided $10,000 per year, and this year 
they will be asked for $7,000.  The pool board will be asking the Snyder County Commissioners for 
money, and between them and the Edna M. Sheary Charitable Trust there should be $75,000 available.  
The Rotary Club has a golf classic coming up which over the last two years has raised $5,000 for 
community organizations.  There is an application available for $2,000 and Wal-Mart has a check signed 
for $1,000 just waiting for confirmation of the pool board’s nonprofit status.  The total of these funds would 
bring the total pledged funds to $364,000.  This would enable DCNR to supply the full matching grant of 
$250,000, bringing the total available funds to $614,000.  Deducting the Wade Associates fee of $32,000 
and the handicapped accessibility estimate of $50,000 leaves $532,000 which is enough to put toward 
both Phase 1 and Phase 2 of the project.  The Phase 2 water features will be a lot like what Middleburg 
pool has, except for their enclosed slide, which cost them $92,000.  Several items have been removed 



Meeting Date:  September 2, 2008  3 of 19 

from the plan including the winter covers and one other water feature.  Most of the pool membership 
coming from the Borough, Penn Township and Monroe Township.  All others are around 4%.  A listing of 
the pool board members was supplied to Council.  Bob noted that this is an active board, they have an 
agenda, and they have subcommittees just as Borough Council does.  Bob again appealed to Council to 
increase their monetary support for the pool this year.  He stated the pool board needs help, as they are 
volunteers who are putting a lot of time into this effort.  C/P Anderson asked if there are any plans to do 
individual solicitations, particularly among the membership.  Bob replied that the pool board is working 
with SPI on fundraising.  He stated that individual solicitations would be a lot of work.  He hopes that 
members of the community will step forward to help.  In the past various people supplied shingles, did 
macadam work, and donated other materials.  Pres. Handlan suggested putting an article in the Borough 
newsletter soliciting donations for the pool.  She stated this was done for the Rotary field to help with 
those improvements.  The newsletter gets hand delivered to every member of the community, so she 
asked Bob to let Sheri know where people could send their donations.  C/P Anderson referred to the 
listing of the goal amounts for capital improvements and asked if the pool board will still need what the 
Borough gives now to help with the operations of the pool.  Bob verified that the Borough is being asked 
to increase their donation from last year’s amount.  He stated in the past a lot of people donated their 
time, but today the pool pays minimum wage.  The college students want a higher rate and the pool 
struggles with this.  The fee that is paid to the YMCA also hurts to some extent.  C/P Anderson noted that 
that may have been one of the best decisions the pool board made, and Bob agreed that the YMCA 
knows all the rules and regulations, and the plans are to continue working with the YMCA for 
management of the pool.  Brian Burke stated that the pool is very close to being able to do both phases of 
the project.  Phase 1 is all but covered with the $462,000 that is in hand already, and having a complete 
project including Phase 2 is within reach with the help of the other entities as noted before.  Brian stated 
that last year the Borough contributed $17,500 and this year the pool board is asking for $27,000 from the 
Borough, and with Penn and Monroe Townships’ anticipated help this will bring the total from the three 
municipalities to $50,000.  Bob noted that there are four water features that are being proposed for the 
Phase 2 cost of $64,000 as opposed to Middleburg’s one water feature that cost them $92,000. 
 
Mgr. Bickhart stated that after the pool board was notified that they were on the list of projects to get a 
DCNR grant in the amount of $250,000 the pool board began working with one of their consultants to put 
the plan specifications together for a down-graded setup, with a base bid of the bare essentials to get the 
pool into compliance and to repair any issues that could lead to a pool closure by DEP or the Department 
of Health.  The pool board listed a number of alternate bids that could be added depending on 
fundraising.  As of three months ago, no paperwork had yet been received from DCNR on the grant so 
SEDA-COG contacted DCNR and asked them about the grant.  DCNR assured them the paperwork was 
coming.  Two months ago SEDA-COG called again and was told the paperwork was coming.  A month 
ago the consultant, Wayne Wade, who has a good working relationship with the people at DCNR, called 
and discovered that DCNR had not planned correctly.  They had planned to fund the pool project with 
federal funds only to find out that because the applicant, the Borough of Selinsgrove, does not actually 
own the pool but has a lease interest, federal funds could not be used and DCNR needed to find state 
funds.  DCNR has since then said that they have found the money and the paperwork will be forthcoming.  
A month ago they said this should happen within two or three months.  After the bids were opened on 
August 19, Mgr. Bickhart asked Russ Fairchild to call DCNR and use his influence to see what he could 
learn, hoping that something could be done to short-circuit the approval processes to allow the bids to be 
awarded.  The bids were opened and it is up to Council to award the contract.  Mgr. Bickhart stated he 
does not feel it is prudent and he does not recommend that Council award the contract until the 
paperwork from DCNR is received.  Rather than the pool board just doing nothing, Mgr. Bickhart 
suggested moving forward with fundraising, summarizing, and approaching entities for donations.  
Hopefully once the paperwork is received from DCNR Council would consider a special meeting to accept 
the grant and to award the contract.  The pool board wanted to be able to award the contract shortly after 
the pool closed this year so the contractor could begin working this fall and into the winter, and then finish 
the work in the spring and into the summer so that by the time the pool opened next summer all the 
improvements would be made and there would be a minimal disruption on the pool’s ability to offer 
services to the community.  In order to attract the best bid price, the architect put in the bid specifications 
that these prices would be good for 30 days.  Therefore, the bids opened on August 19 will be good until 
September 19.  After that the low bidder can be asked to hold his price or it can be renegotiated at that 



Meeting Date:  September 2, 2008  4 of 19 

time.  Everything now depends on how soon DCNR gets the paperwork to the Borough.  This will 
determine whether anything or everything can be salvaged.  There is no decision for Council to make 
tonight.  Hopefully the information presented will enable Council to be able to move forward with a 
decision on relatively short notice when that time comes.  Council would be awarding the basic amount of 
the bid, Phase 1 at $463,800.  Depending on how the fundraising goes, the pool board can talk with the 
contractor to add items during the course of construction or they could do the extras outside of the 
contract.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that the bath house is a separate issue that Bob Soper has estimated at 
around $50,000.  Hopefully this can be done with local funds at a future date.  On the page for 
fundraising, under the $462,000 there is an acknowledgement that the pool board owes Wade Associates 
$32,000 for the project and it has to come out of those funds.  The bath house does not have to come out 
on that line.  Mgr. Bickhart suggested taking that out so that the currently available funds as of 9/2/2008 
would be corrected to be $430,000 – not $380,000 – to be spent on the rest of the project.  Therefore, the 
pool board has $430,000 of the $463,800 needed for Phase 1.  When Council signs the contract they are 
committing to paying the contractor $463,800.  It is the pool board’s job to assure Council that adequate 
funds are available to do that and they have correctly shown $430,000 of funds available. 
 
Pres. Handlan asked who is making sure this moves along and does not get lost for another couple 
months at DCNR, whether it is SEDA-COG or Mgr. Bickhart.  Mgr. Bickhart replied he is working on this 
through Russ Fairchild.  Brian Burke stated that the pool board is not at odds with anything that 
Mgr. Bickhart has said regarding this topic.  However, representing the pool board, he asked if it would be 
proper for the pool board to ask Council, based on the fact that all this is moving along and that DCNR is 
reporting that the guarantee will come any single day, to award the contract and pull money from 
wherever it is available.  Mgr. Bickhart has advised that this should not be done.  Brian Burke stated that 
the pool board feels they have gone through the process and this is a DCNR error, and now the pool 
board and the community must respond to that error.  Russ Fairchild has done what he can do.  Brian 
stated the pool board is not asking the Council to put themselves in a difficult situation.  Pres. Handlan 
stated that the pool board has Council’s full support.  It is unfortunate that this has happened, but at least 
DCNR is correcting the mistake and not rescinding the grant approval.  It is now just a matter of waiting.  
C/P Anderson stated she did not feel anyone on Council would object to a special meeting if that is what it 
would take to move this along.  She stated the contract cannot be awarded without the guarantee of the 
money.  The other Council members agreed with this.  Mgr. Bickhart stated if anyone has any questions 
on this, they can call Brian Burke, Bob Soper, or himself.  They are all working very closely on this.  He 
stated that the pool board and the consultants have worked very diligently to fine tune the project down to 
the minimum, bare bones project.  It will be good for the community and provide a nice facility with 
longevity and solve issues that may close the pool at any moment, as well as adding some nice features.  
The pool board has done an excellent job of weeding through all the choices and whittled down a project 
that at one point was estimated at $1.25 million.  Pres. Handlan asked Bob and Brian to work with Sheri 
to get the information into the newsletter.  Bob again asked Council to consider budgeting $27,000 for the 
pool.  C/P Anderson stated the timing of this request is perfect as the budget process is just beginning.  
Mgr. Bickhart noted that this request is for operating expenses plus a capital expenditure toward the pool 
improvement project.  Pres. Handlan stated she hopes Penn and Monroe Townships step up this year 
also.  She thanked Brian and Bob for all the work they have done and continue to do on this project. 
 
Joe McGranaghan, Chairman, SVTP Task Force, Update on By-Pass Project and request for 
support – Joe reported that the task force is comprised of three members from the Greater Susquehanna 
Valley Chamber of Commerce, three members from the Central Pennsylvania Chamber of Commerce, a 
representative from SEDA-COG, a representative from the Route 15 Coalition, two retired PennDOT 
executives who provide the PennDOT perspective on the issues discussed, Senator John Gordner, 
Senator Madigan, who is chairman of the Senate Transportation Committee, Representatives Phillips and 
Fairchild, and Congressman Carney.  The task force has been working quietly behind the scenes for the 
past six years as a clearinghouse to get the project going.  The task force was completely blindsided by 
PennDOT’s decision to hibernate this project.  PennDOT made a long series of commitments to fund the 
thruway project, and they had told the task force that the funds were in place for facilities relocation, for 
acquisition of rights of way necessary to build the project, and for final design.  The task force has been 
harping at PennDOT for years to complete final design of the northern section and to hire a design 
consultant for the southern section, which is the actual by-pass and the Route 61 connector.  PennDOT 



Meeting Date:  September 2, 2008  5 of 19 

has said that they are in negotiations for a southern design consultant, but now all this has been put on 
hold.  This all came about when task force member Mike Moroskie from the Route 15 Coalition attended 
a meeting where he heard Secretary Biehler name a list of projects that were too expensive to build and 
he included the Susquehanna Valley Transportation Project as one of them.  Joe stated he wrote a letter 
at the request of the task force to Secretary Biehler asking him to explain that comment and to give the 
task force some sort of feeling regarding PennDOT’s current support of the project.  He did not receive an 
answer directly from the secretary, but he did receive notice of the meetings that were held at 
Susquehanna University when PennDOT put the project in hibernation.  The task force has a meeting 
scheduled for this Friday, and they will be working on ways to get this project out of hibernation.  The task 
force is focused on the fact that PennDOT made the commitment and said money was in place for the 
three elements noted previously.  If the project remains hibernated that money may go away.  PennDOT 
has different operating imperatives now than they did a few years ago, and the cost of materials has gone 
sky high.  The task force is not unsympathetic to this, but they want to make certain that the money that 
was allocated and committed to the project stays with it.  In a letter that the people in Montoursville sent 
to Shamokin Dam Borough, they estimated that if the project were brought out of hibernation after some 
period of time it would take a minimum of 30 months before they could let a contract, and that is if every 
dime of the $350 or $360 million was available.  Last year Congressman Overstar made a commitment to 
try to get the money to build the bridge at Winfield first.  His feeling was that if that bridge was built it 
would make the rest of the money flow into the project simply because it would be a big improvement 
right up front and would solve a lot of problems in the Borough of Northumberland and some in 
Lewisburg.  PennDOT said they are unwilling to start the project until they can identify every single cent 
necessary to build it.  The task force is hearing different things from different people and they are trying to 
get to the bottom of it and get with Congressmen Carney and Overstar to get the funding for the bridge.  
The task force is working with Senator Specter, who has made great strides toward getting the project on 
the Appalachian Development funding stream.  Last month he got it before the committee, but he had 
some opposition from Senator Kit Bond of Missouri.  Senator Bond came to him later and said he thought 
he could work with him on this, and if that is true there will be access to an ongoing stream of funds that 
could build the project.  It cannot be built on earmarks or with a SEDA-COG allocation unless it is taken 
for the next 25 years and then nothing else would get done in the district.  Joe has been visiting the 
municipalities directly affected by the bypass project and asking them to support the task force efforts by 
writing to Secretary Biehler and to Governor Rendell asking them to take the project out of hibernation.  
PennDOT has no real reason to put this project in hibernation other than they cannot identify the funding 
for it.  If they had come to the task force and said they did not have any funding for the project and asked 
for help, the task force could have gone to Congressman Carney and to Senator Specter to try to get an 
earmark of $5 or $10 million to keep the project moving.  PennDOT chose not to do that, but chose 
instead to put the project in hibernation.  What the task force needs now is letters and as much support 
from the communities and municipalities and people to get the governor to reverse the decision.  All the 
municipalities Joe has met with so far have been kind enough to do that.  The Chamber was asked to 
draft a sample letter, but they did not want to do that because they did not want Governor Rendell getting 
25 identical letters.  What the Chamber did is put together a list of talking points and things that should or 
could be included in the letter, and Joe is providing copies of approved letters from the other 
municipalities.  The Council or supervisors must approve the letter and Joe is still waiting for Penn 
Township.  Joe is also asking the Council to encourage everyone they can to write letters in support of 
the project.  The Sunbury Rotary Club is circulating a petition and will bring it to the Selinsgrove Market 
Street Festival for more signatures.  Letters can be sent to Secretary Biehler and Governor Rendell 
asking them to take the project out of hibernation.  Letters to Congressman Carney or Senator Specter 
should encourage them to keep up their efforts to obtain funding for the project.  Joe stated this has a real 
stranglehold on the economic vitality of this area.  The Daily Item had asked him to write an article, and 
he stated that PennDOT may be able to hibernate the project but they cannot hibernate the traffic 
congestion that we have to live with every single day from now until the project is built.  Joe left copies of 
the information with Mgr. Bickhart and offered to answer any questions.  Pres. Handlan asked if the 
Transportation Committee is something else, and Joe replied that that is the task force. 
 
Pres. Handlan passed around the letters that were written.  C/P Anderson asked if a motion should be 
made to do letters, and asked if it was appropriate to do one letter from Council.  Pres. Handlan stated it 
depends on who will be signing the letter.  The other municipalities did different letters from Council 



Meeting Date:  September 2, 2008  6 of 19 

members, one from the mayor, one from the Council president, and one from the Borough Manager.  
There was some discussion as to whether a motion should be made to write individual letters or one letter 
from Council as a whole.  C/P Herb stated that he felt the letters should be done individually and not as a 
Council unless it is seen and approved by everyone.  If the letter will represent the Council then the 
Council members should see the letter and the members should know what they are signing.  He was not 
suggesting that this is a controversial issue, but from a practical point of view it should be done 
individually and reflect individual approaches to this.  He stated he does not feel that it will lose any 
impact by doing it individually.  C/P Anderson suggested asking Mgr. Bickhart to draft a letter and email it 
to the Council members for their response.  C/P Viker asked if it would be signed by Pres. Handlan on 
behalf of Council.  Pres. Handlan stated it could be signed by everyone; it is just a matter of getting 
everyone into the office to sign it.  C/P Herb stated that if it can be done that way and be done 
expeditiously then he is in favor of that.  C/P Viker stated he would be confident in Pres. Handlan writing 
and signing a letter that speaks for Council as long as there is a motion to do so.  Pres. Handlan stated 
everyone could also write an individual letter.  C/P Anderson agreed, and stated she likes the impact the 
letter carries if it is done as a Council. 
 
Motion by C/P Anderson to write a letter of support from Borough Council.  Seconded by C/P Inch. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Mgr. Bickhart will come up with a draft of a letter and email it to all Council members for their comments. 
 
Request from Thomas Szczepkowski, Selinsgrove Veterinary Hospital, to close portion of 
Elderberry Alley between Route 522 and Bridge Street – Mgr. Bickhart stated this request has been 
submitted in writing.  C/P Anderson stated this is her veterinarian, and she has noticed that that alley is 
like the entry into the practice now.  It goes out the back but it in terrible disrepair.  Mgr. Bickhart stated 
that this request is different from any of the other requests to be vacated in that this one has been publicly 
opened.  If Council agrees to look into it, it needs to go to Solicitor Cravitz first because it is a completely 
different process.  There is very little on the record that can be proven, but that piece of alley has stop 
signs at both ends.  The Borough did not put them up; probably PennDOT did because they intersect with 
state roads.  C/P Mengel stated she does not see the point to this.  If more parking is needed they can 
just use the property that was purchased to add parking.  Access is necessary for that area also.  Solicitor 
Cravitz stated he will look into this and get back to Council. 
 
Diane Alderson – Sidewalk Bricks near Streetlight Posts – Diane reported that she has been 
approached by a couple Borough residents regarding who is responsible for some brick work that needs 
to be done on the sidewalks.  This has been on the Selinsgrove Chamber of Commerce agenda for 
several months and has been put on the back burner.  At the Board meeting today Diane asked what the 
Chamber has to do with the sidewalks.  She feels it is a Borough issue.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that this 
brick work involves construction that was needed for the streetlight project.  The areas in question are the 
corner by the Post Office and the corner across the street.  The contract had required that concrete 
sidewalks be replaced.  Shane Ulrich had asked if the contract could be converted to using the contract 
price to put the concrete base in so that brick sidewalks would be added later.  This would be done 
outside the contract because it was not part of the contract work.  The decision was made to temporarily 
put macadam in so there would be a surface durable enough to walk on until someone could be hired to 
come in and lay bricks.  This has always been an extension of the streetlight project and is the 
responsibility of the Chamber.  Pres. Handlan stated it involves everyone, the Chamber, the Borough and 
SPI.  C/P Viker asked if there is a safety issue at any of the locations.  Diane replied it is not a safety 
issue, but it is not attractive.  She stated that she is getting more and more comments on this, as are 
several of the Chamber board members.  She stated this was probably something that was done before 
she became the president of the Chamber.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that both he and Bob Slivinski have 
spoken at various times with Paul Heintzelman to get a price to lay the bricks.  The Borough has a supply 
of some of the bricks but not enough in stock to do both corners.  Pres. Handlan thanked Diane for 
bringing this to Council’s attention and stated it will be looked into. 
 



Meeting Date:  September 2, 2008  7 of 19 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS FROM PRIOR MEETINGS: 
 
Review Final Land Development Plans for Icon Realty property to permit installation of Verizon 
Wireless Cell Tower (tabled from August meeting) – Richard Williams reminded Council that last 
month the application was tabled because comments were being awaited from the Borough engineer, the 
County Planning Commission, and the Soil Conservation District with respect to an adequacy letter for 
erosion and sedimentation control.  This documentation has now been received.  In his letter, the 
Borough engineer asks whether clearances have been obtained with respect to the airport and whether 
there is any limitation on the height of the structure.  Richard has supplied documentation that consists of 
a copy of the FAA determination of no hazard to air navigation and a copy of the decision from the Zoning 
Hearing Board from June showing that there are no height limitations.  The Borough engineer also raised 
some issues with regard to stormwater calculations, to which the Verizon engineer has responded to 
resolve those issues.  The County Planning Commission had no comments and the adequacy letter has 
been received from the Soil Conservation District.  C/P Viker asked what action Council is being asked to 
take tonight, and C/P Anderson replied a motion is needed to remove this issue from the table.  C/P Herb 
stated that he had heard that other than the standard design of a naked tower, there are other designs of 
towers that are intended to look less like a tower.  Richard stated these are called stealth towers.  
C/P Herb asked if any of these plans were submitted to the Planning Commission.  Richard replied that in 
most instances stealth towers, which are designed to look like a tree, are not used in structures that are 
over 120 feet tall.  In this case the tower is 190 feet tall and camouflaging it to look like a tree would not 
be effective at that height.  This also results in a more bulky structure to support the branches so the base 
of the tower would expand exponentially.  C/P Herb asked if the site available is large enough to 
accommodate that, and Richard replied that it would be large enough but a 190-foot “tree” would stick out 
like a sore thumb.  C/P Herb asked if it would have been appropriate to at least give this information to 
the Planning Commission so they could make a judgment on that issue themselves.  C/P Anderson 
stated that the Planning Commission was aware of the options of stealth towers, even though not 
presented by Verizon.  The Commission had discussions on this and knew it was not a good option for a 
tower of this height.  C/P Mengel stated that she thought there would not be a light on the tower.  Richard 
replied that the FAA determination is that there will be a light.  C/P Mengel stated she did see that, and 
noted that she also saw that the determination expired September 15, 2007.  She asked if there is a 
current FAA determination.  Richard replied that as long as there are no changes in the plans the FAA will 
issue a current determination.  He stated that will be provided to the Borough as a condition of approval.  
C/P Mengel stated that she would like to see that. 
 
Motion by C/P Viker to take the issue off the table.  Seconded by C/P Anderson. 
 

AYES:  SIX (6)  NAYS:  ONE (1) – C/P Herb  MOTION CARRIED 
 
C/P Herb stated he feels there are still some issues that are unresolved.  He asked if the contract 
includes the responsibility that if the tower becomes obsolete it is the obligation of the company to remove 
it.  Richard replied that the lease agreement with Icon Realty indicates that within 90 days of expiration or 
termination of the agreement Verizon Wireless is required to remove the tower from the facility. 
 
Motion by C/P Anderson to follow the recommendation of the Planning Commission and grant final land 
development plan approval conditioned upon the receipt of an extension of, or a new determination by the 
FAA.  Seconded by C/P Mengel. 
 

AYES:  FIVE (5) NAYS:  TWO (2) – C/Ps Herb and Mengel  MOTION CARRIED 
 
PERSONS TO BE HEARD: 
 
Mike McCloud, Police Officer Candidate – Mike stated he has been attending Council meetings to get a 
feeling for the community.  He feels it is much like Carmel by the Sea, where he had come from years 
ago.  He is following up on the police recruitment and Borough news.  Pres. Handlan thanked him for his 
interest over the past three months, and welcomed him to the community. 
 



Meeting Date:  September 2, 2008  8 of 19 

John Nace, American Legion, request for noise ordinance waiver for Oktoberfest weekend, 
October 3 and 4 – Mr. Nace stated that the American Legion is a bar, but they are trying to go beyond 
that with community events such as giving a $100 savings bond to any Boy Scout who earns his Eagle 
Award, sponsoring a junior baseball team, and paying the way for interested high school students to go to 
Chambersburg for one week to learn about being a council person on the local, county, state and federal 
levels.  Mr. Nace stated that the Legion’s Oktoberfest will be held this year on October 3

rd
 and 4

th
, and 

they would like to have outside band music until midnight on Friday and until 1:00 AM on Saturday.  
Pres. Handlan asked if this event went that long last year and Mr. Nace replied that it wrapped up at 
midnight last year, but there are some people that would like to stay out until 1:00 AM.  He stated letters 
will be given to residents in the area of the American Legion.  C/P Anderson asked if this would conflict 
with the university’s homecoming activities and Mr. Nace stated it was held during homecoming last year 
and some people from SU came over to the Legion.  Pres. Handlan asked if there were any complaints 
last year and Mr. Nace said there were not.  He also noted that the Legion is near the race track, which is 
also noisy and sometimes runs past midnight.  C/P Mengel stated she feels midnight is long enough and 
then the event should be moved inside after that.  C/P Herb asked if any event has ever gone beyond 
midnight and no one remembered any.  C/P Viker stated that midnight seemed to be a reasonable time to 
extend the noise ordinance waiver, noting that he agrees with C/P Mengel. 
 
Motion by C/P Mengel to waive the noise ordinance for the American Legion’s outside Oktoberfest until 
midnight.  Seconded by C/P Hendricks. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Mr. Nace asked who he would have to talk to in order to have a block party like Sunbury and Shamokin 
do.  Pres. Handlan stated a letter outlining the specifics of the event should be sent to Mgr. Bickhart. 
 
Meals on Wheels Request to use Pump House kitchen to prepare and package meals, 9 AM to 
Noon, 5 days a week, and identification of costs, terms and conditions for such use – Since Dave 
Dagle was not present, Dick Norman spoke to this issue as vice president of the board for Meals on 
Wheels.  Dick stated that the Meals on Wheels is currently at the United Church of Christ annex.  The 
church is planning to tear the building down and will move Meals on Wheels into the basement of the 
church.  Because mostly senior citizens are served, the drivers are all elderly senior citizens, and the 
steps going down into the church basement are in bad shape, Meals on Wheels is looking for alternate 
locations.  C/P Viker asked how active the pump house is from 9:00 AM to Noon on weekdays.  
Pres. Handlan stated that really does not matter because if the Borough wanted to rent out the pump 
house during those times, they would not be able to because of a commitment to Meals on Wheels.  
C/P Anderson asked when the Kiwanis is there and Sheri stated only in the evenings.  Pres. Handlan 
asked what types of meals are prepared by Meals on Wheels and whether they are large family-style 
dinners from which the containers are then filled.  Dick explained that meals are delivered throughout the 
entire Selinsgrove School District area, from Port Trevorton to Kratzerville to Shamokin Dam.  A hot meal 
goes out five days a week unless there is a holiday.  The meals are actually prepared by a caterer in 
Montoursville, who delivers them to Selinsgrove and then they are distributed from there.  They come 
already packaged, but Meals on Wheels adds a bag of milk, fruit or other things.  They do not actually do 
any cooking and not usually any warming up of the food.  There are packs similar to ice packs that are 
heated to keep the meals warm when they are delivered.  C/P Viker stated regarding costs, terms and 
conditions of use, he would be concerned about setting a precedent of allowing one non-profit 
organization to use the pump house free of charge, but not anyone else.  He is also concerned that if an 
organization has free use, then more organizations will request the same consideration.  Dick stated 
Meals on Wheels makes a donation to the church, but it is not called rent.  He stated Meals on Wheels 
has also talked with the Episcopal Church about using their basement, but he does not know the outcome 
of that meeting because he was not there.  Their basement is easy to access.  Meals on Wheels has their 
own refrigerator that they use to keep things cold, and they need something to heat the hot packs.  
C/P Herb suggested that while Meals on Wheels is searching for other alternatives, this should be 
referred to the Public Services and Facilities Committee.  Mgr. Bickhart asked if Meals on Wheels needs 
locations to store materials.  Dick replied that the only storage would be for the containers that the meals 
are taken around in.  It was asked how many meals are delivered each day.  Dick replied that the 



Meeting Date:  September 2, 2008  9 of 19 

organization is non-profit with a 501(c)3 status, and they also deliver for the Area Agency on Aging out of 
Lewisburg.  Dick estimated between 40 and 50 meals a day.  At times there have been up to 100 meals. 
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS FROM PRIOR MEETINGS: 
 
Deeds of Dedication for Independence Street, west of Magnolia Avenue, received and recorded – 
Mgr. Bickhart reported the deeds have been received and recorded, so this piece of Independence is now 
a public Borough street. 
 
Review List of Council Issues – Mgr. Bickhart reported no progress on any issues other than the 
architectural reviews for the Borough building.  He is working with the school district to have a meeting to 
review the report from the engineer on Weiser Run.  Mayor Carroll stated that Jeff Hummel let him know 
that he received a bill last month but they had not received the outcome of the survey on Weiser Run.  
Sheri stated she sent the bill and she thought they had the survey.  A copy of the survey will be sent. 
 
There was some discussion about moving things along in the Council meeting and C/P Mengel stated 
Council is there for the business of the Borough and it bothers her when things are rushed through.  
Pres. Handlan reminded Council that there is also a meeting tomorrow night at 6:30. 
 
COMMITTEE / COMMISSION / BOARD REPORTS: 
 
FINANCE & BUDGET COMMITTEE:  C/P Inch, Chairman 
 
Payment and Ratification of Bills 
 
Motion by C/P Inch to pay the bills.  Seconded by C/P Mengel. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 

Review Audit Report for 2007 
 
Motion by C/P Inch to acknowledge receipt of and accept the audit report for 2007.  Seconded by 
C/P Anderson. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Authorize Submission of Request for Proposals for Auditing Services for next 3 years – C/P Inch 
stated that requests for proposals for auditing services for the next three years will be sent out. 
 
Motion by C/P Viker to approve sending out the request for proposals.  Seconded by C/P Mengel. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Review of MMO calculations for 2009 with recommendation on required employee contributions – 
Sheri reported this is the Borough’s municipal minimum obligation for pensions.  In the past, contributions 
by both uniformed and non-uniformed employees were waived.  For 2009 the uniformed employees’ 
contribution will no longer be able to be waived.  They will need to make individual contributions.  The 
non-uniformed employees’ contributions will still be waived in 2009.  The state aid has been maximized 
and the costs have increased for the police department.  C/P Anderson stated that Council was aware 
that this was coming.  Sheri stated that last year the non-uniformed employees did not use all the state 
aid so the police department was able to use some of that.  That will not happen this year.  C/P Viker 
asked if the police officers are aware of this and Sheri replied that Mgr. Bickhart will tell them once 
Council approves this.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that he told Chief Garlock about this today, and because it is 
a contractual item Mgr. Bickhart will notify the president of their association tomorrow.  C/P Anderson 
stated that it is written into their contract that this can happen so it is not a change in the language of the 



Meeting Date:  September 2, 2008  10 of 19 

contract.  This will go into effect in January 2009.  No action is required by Council on this; the 
requirement is just that the information be shared with Council in the month of September. 
 
Police Equipment – C/P Inch reported that the amount of money needed for updated equipment in the 
squad cars is $3,846.60, and the Finance Committee is recommending that the police be allowed to 
obtain this equipment.  C/P Mengel asked where the laptop mounts are that were purchased years ago 
for the police cars.  Mgr. Bickhart stated they are now in the patrol cars, and C/P Mengel asked why new 
ones are being recommended.  Mgr. Bickhart replied the new ones are more secure, as the ones that are 
there now are not entirely vandal-proof and would not prohibit someone from smashing a window and 
grabbing a laptop.  The laptops are an upgrade to armored, and they are connected to a bracket that is 
equally secure.  Some items on the proposal are probably not needed.  If Council accepts the 
committee’s recommendation it will be an amendment to the police budget, which has the capacity to 
accommodate the expense due to the delay in hiring a full-time officer and Officer Wolfberg’s Heart/Lung 
issue.  The quoted amount is not a detailed proposal, but an estimate, so the cost could be lower, but it 
would not be any higher than the amount quoted. 
 
Motion by C/P Viker to authorize the purchase of the equipment. 
 
Pres. Handlan asked if the laptops have already been upgraded and C/P Anderson stated that this 
proposal does not include new laptops.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that he believes Chief Garlock has already 
upgraded the laptops to the armored ones.  Pres. Handlan asked what the VPN service for one year is 
and whether Todd warrants his work in case there are any issues.  Mgr. Bickhart stated he has not asked 
about a warranty but he imagines the work is warranted.  The VPN service has something to do with the 
computer.  Solicitor Cravitz pointed out that it is the virtual private network, more of a program than 
hardware. 
 
Motion seconded by C/P Anderson. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Mgr. Bickhart noted that this will give the police officers the opportunity to access the Internet and use 
their computers in the squad cars from anywhere in the Borough because of the wireless network that 
already exists.  Chief Garlock is working on a program in which the officers can put information into the 
laptops, which are not intended to be removed from the squad cars and put into a docking station inside 
the police department, and then transfer the information from the laptops to the computer in the office.  
This new equipment will add that feature and flexibility.  Also, if a camera were to be installed anywhere in 
the Borough, it could be tied into the network and monitored in any squad car from anywhere in the 
Borough in real time. 
 
Statewide Tax Recovery, Inc. - Exoneration Requests – There is an exemption request for Vivian 
Pena, who died in 2001.  Statewide Tax Recovery is asking to be exempted from collecting the per capita 
tax of $5.50 from 1995 through 2000. 
 
Motion by C/P Mengel to grant the exemption.  Seconded by C/P Herb. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 

PUBLIC FACILITIES & SERVICES COMMITTEE:  C/P Hendricks, Chairman 
 
Schedule meeting to discuss 2009 Infrastructure Improvement Program – Monday at 1:00 PM 
 
BOROUGH ADMINISTRATION / PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT:  C/P Mengel, Chairwoman 
 
Report on “Request for Architectural Services Proposals” pertaining to Selinsgrove Municipal 
Building – C/P Mengel reported that a meeting was held on the proposals for the renovations.  Five 
proposals were reviewed.  Tomorrow night’s meeting will be to further investigate Larson Design Group, 



Meeting Date:  September 2, 2008  11 of 19 

EI Associates from Harrisburg, and LeFevre Wilk Architects.  Tonight’s meeting will be recessed to 
tomorrow’s meeting at 6:30 PM. 
 
COMMUNITY ACTIVITIES AND PUBLIC AFFAIRS:  C/P Viker, Chairman 
 
Town/Gown Meeting Report – C/P Viker reported that the Town/Gown Committee met on August 13 to 
basically take the pulse of the interactions and relationships between the university community and the 
Borough.  The ways in which the public safety committee and the police department are working together 
were discussed.  Communication and sharing of information resources has increased, making this a 
much smoother relationship than in the past.  In general the feeling in the room was that things were good 
and the relationship is quite sound.  Some issues to be watched include a migration of students from the 
Borough to just over the Borough line into Penn Township on the other side of 18

th
 Street and how that 

might affect how the police department can respond to student-related incidents and infractions.  
Changes and improvements in the university’s response to its conduct and sanctioning system for off-
campus student behavior were also discussed.  There is a new conduct person in the university’s student 
affairs division, and the student handbook, which contains a student’s contract for behavior in addition to 
a lot of information, is being revised to show students how they are to conduct themselves as model 
students both on and off campus.  The committee plans to meet one more time this semester. 
 
PERSONNEL MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE:  C/P Anderson, Chairwoman 
 
Employee Evaluations Report – Pres. Handlan asked for an update on the status of evaluations.  
C/P Anderson stated that Dave Henry at the university is putting together some position descriptions that 
they use at the university that would be comparable for the Borough employees.  The position 
descriptions need to be set before evaluations can be done.  Mgr. Bickhart received some information 
from the Boroughs Association.  This needs to be done before any numbers are put into the budget, as 
wages next year will be based on the performance evaluations.  He stated he has a project to clear up 
this week and then he can begin working on this, although it is mostly done at this point.  The evaluations 
should be finished by the October meeting.  Pres. Handlan asked how the Borough Manager is evaluated 
and whether the Boroughs Association provided any guidance on this.  C/P Anderson stated she has not 
seen anything that was specific to the Borough Manager.  Mgr. Bickhart stated the duties of the Borough 
Manager go back to the time of his hiring, and he will work that into a job description for himself.  Solicitor 
Cravitz stated Chapter 25 of the Borough Code has some information on this.  Mgr. Bickhart said that 
who evaluates the Borough Manager is up to Council.  He stated he would welcome an evaluation.  
Pres. Handlan stated she is not trying to be smart, but all the employees need to be evaluated.  She 
stated Council provides direction but it is unclear who monitors that to be sure it is carried out.  She was 
curious as to how other boroughs do this.  C/P Anderson stated she will do some research into this. 
 
PUBLIC SAFETY COMMITTEE:  C/P Herb, Chairman – A meeting will be scheduled soon to deal 
primarily with the issue of noisy vehicles in the Borough as well as the South Front Street stop sign issue. 
 
PLANNING COMMISSION:  Earl Moyer, Chairman – No Report 
 
ZONING HEARING BOARD:  Cyril Runkle, Chairman – No Report 
 
CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION:  Dalton Savidge, Chairman – No Report 
 
PARKS AND RECREATION BOARD:  Richard Norman, Chairman 
 
Ordinance 752, Skateboard Ordinance – Dick had been asked to give a report on this, but he asked to 
defer this because Chief Garlock, who is on duty tonight, should be present for this. 
 
2008 Summer Playground Program Report – Dick reported that the young women conducting the 
program this year have not turned in their reports yet.  He received a thank you card from one of the 
mothers whose children attended the program.  The program was not as successful as usual, perhaps 
due to the heat.  A water mister was installed with mixed jets that use about 3 gallons of water per hour.  



Meeting Date:  September 2, 2008  12 of 19 

The kids really like this, and the soccer teams are also using it.  The mister was not taken out of Borough 
funds but was purchased through individual funding.  The program ran the normal nine to ten weeks.  It 
was not quite as active as usual since there were three girls this time rather than a mixture of boys and 
girls.  When there are boys involved there are more sports and physical activities.  Dick would like to see 
a boy involved next year.  Sheri said she would try.  Dick stated not as many boys applied for jobs this 
year and most were sent to the street department.  Dick feels the program is worthwhile and quite a few 
of the parents agree. 
 
Moose Playground – Dick reported that new equipment is being installed that was purchased for a 
senior project for a high school student.  The weeds were controlled and the playground kept clean.  More 
chips will be placed next year. 
 
Mini Playground – Dick reported there was not much needed or done here, with something in the works 
for next year. 
 
Gazebo – Dick reported there is a new roof and the building was pressure washed, resealed and 
everything damaged was fixed.  The total cost was around $5,000.  Of that only $750 came from Borough 
funds with the balance provided by outside donations.  The gazebo should last for another 20 years. 
 
Ice Skating Rink – Dick reported that not much has been done so far.  Work will begin on this now.  The 
building was painted on the outside.  John Kinney will put the mural of Little Norway on the side for this 
winter.  The ramp will be extended into the water further so there is not a drop-off into the ice.  Some 
more things will be done on the inside, such as painting and adding shelves.  This is all being done with 
outside money and no Borough money 
 
Anthony Selin Park – Dick reported the inside of the kitchen area and play equipment storage area was 
painted.  The roof will be fixed and since the pressure washing of the gazebo turned out so well Dick 
would like to do the inside of the pavilion next year.  The riding animals were painted and general 
maintenance was done, as well as installation of some new fence posts and railings at the parking area. 
 
Life Trail – Dick reported that wheelchair and handicapped accessibility is complete.  Evangelical 
Hospital was down in the spring and conducted a clinic.  The Life Trail is now included with the mall, 
Lewisburg and Milton so that people who walk for points can collect them at any of the locations.  He 
stated he does not know how many people are using the trail, but many times during the summer at 5:30 
or 6:00 AM there were people walking before work.  There have been free ads in the newspaper and it 
has been advertised in the newsletter, but many people do not know where the Life Trail is. 
 
C/P Herb stated his daughter was visiting from New Hampshire with her 4-year-old.  Her town has four 
times the population of Selinsgrove and she marveled at the facilities and the playgrounds that are 
available for children here.  C/P Herb stated that this is in large part due to the work that Dick Norman has 
done over the years, and he stated that the Borough owes Dick a lot of gratitude.  Council heartily 
concurred with this sentiment.  Dick stated he likes to do the work and he likes to see the kids and the 
parents happy.  C/P Herb stated that the good that this does goes beyond just the Selinsgrove 
community.  Dick stated he has seen busloads of people coming into the Borough to use the facilities.  He 
stated the Farmer’s Almanac is predicting a colder than usual winter, which will hopefully help the ice 
skating facility this year. 
 
SHADE TREE COMMISSION:  Karl Maul, Chairman – No Report 
 
BOROUGH ADMINISTRATIVE REPORTS: 
 
MAYOR:  Pete Carroll 
 
Mayor Carroll reported that he attended the Governor’s meeting at Bucknell.  On August 13 he attended a 
ribbon cutting for Larson Design Group at their Route 522 location.  On August 26 he participated in the 
groundbreaking at Susquehanna University, at which Mgr. Bickhart spoke.  Mayor Carroll also attended 



Meeting Date:  September 2, 2008  13 of 19 

sub-committee meetings and the SPI meeting.  This Friday night at the football game, at about 6:45 Keli 
Smith from the Olympic field hockey team will be honored, and Mayor Carroll has been asked to speak, 
along with several others.  Mayor Carroll supplied copies of a letter he submitted to the Finance 
Committee requesting funding for the Gettysburg PSAB conference.  This has been denied in the past but 
he has been told to continue to ask.  Mayor Carroll noted he has not been able to get together with Chief 
Garlock due to scheduling.  This will continue to be an ongoing problem until Officer Wolfberg’s situation 
is resolved. 
 
BOROUGH SOLICITOR:  Robert Cravitz, Esq. 
 
Consider adoption of Proposed Ordinance # 769, pertaining to permitting the public display of 
fireworks – Solicitor Cravitz stated he removed the provision with regard to the bond.  Some things have 
been changed, including some renumbering and new numbers, including 105-4 requiring a permit for a 
public fireworks display, 105-5 needing a certified, competent operator, 105-6 regarding an application for 
permit and what is required for that.  Insurance is a minimum liability of $1 million and names the Borough 
as additional insured and holds harmless and indemnifies the Borough in case anything goes wrong.  The 
permit is for one date only and if the display gets rained out they can apply to change the date.  The cost 
is $100.  Rules and regulations are being adopted from the national and international fire codes with 
regard to fireworks.  Solicitor Cravitz read additional information from the ordinance.  He noted this will go 
into effect today upon enactment by Council. 
 
Motion by C/P Viker to adopt Ordinance # 769.  Seconded by C/P Herb. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Consider adoption of Proposed Ordinance # 770, pertaining to vacating portions of Center Avenue 
& River Alley – Solicitor Cravitz stated he has advertised this ordinance.  The cost will be borne by the 
applicant.  Within ten days after enactment of the ordinance the Borough will give additional notice by 
certified mail to the surrounding landowners that this will be vacated.  The ordinance will not take effect 
until 40 days after tonight. 
 
Motion by C/P Herb to adopt Ordinance # 770.  Seconded by C/P Hendricks. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Consider adoption of Proposed Ordinance # 771, pertaining to vacating portion of Ninth Street – 
Solicitor Cravitz stated he has advertised this ordinance.  The cost will be borne by the landowner who 
requested this.  The landowners will be given additional notice and this will take effect 40 days after 
tonight enactment. 
 
Motion by C/P Herb to adopt Ordinance # 771.  Seconded by C/P Viker. 
 

AYES:  SEVEN (7) NAYS:  NONE  MOTION CARRIED 
 
Update on stop sign requirements – Solicitor Cravitz reported that he spoke with Mgr. Bickhart about 
the stop sign along Front Street.  They did some research with the Boroughs Association and PennDOT.  
Under Statute 75PS6109 the Borough is not required to do a full-blown traffic study with a traffic engineer.  
However, the Borough is required under Subsection C to do an investigation.  According to the PennDOT 
Rules and Regulations in the Pennsylvania Code, the investigation can be done by a road master, a 
street superintendent, police chief, borough manager, or anybody.  The investigation should be done prior 
to the enactment of the ordinance and it must be done in writing so it is on record.  In this situation with 
regard to that particular stop sign the investigation was done but it is not in writing and it was not in the 
Borough’s possession before Council enacted the ordinance.  If someone were to confront the Borough 
on the ordinance and it was taken before a magistrate or Judge Woelfel, he may say proper procedure 
was not followed and an arrest may be declared invalid.  Conversely, he may not do that because the 
Borough basically met the criteria.  Mgr. Bickhart wrote out his justification to send to PennDOT, and this 



Meeting Date:  September 2, 2008  14 of 19 

cites what is required by the code.  Governor Rendell recently passed a statute that any ordinance on the 
books for two or more years is deemed valid and cannot be challenged on procedural grounds.  If no one 
challenges this for two years from the date of enactment in June then it could not be challenged.  
C/P Viker asked if the letter that Mgr. Bickhart sent to PennDOT could be the documentation of the 
Borough Manager’s investigation of that issue.  Solicitor Cravitz stated that would be sufficient if the letter 
was dated before the enactment, but he does not think it was.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that the letter came 
after Council’s motion.  It was a restatement of what had been stated by Council but technically it was 
generated after the Council meeting.  C/P Viker stated that a traffic study was not required, and Solicitor 
Cravitz agreed, stating a traffic investigation means someone checks out the situation and follows a 
certain criteria and writes a report.  No traffic engineer is needed.  The investigative report is then put in 
the file in case someone questions the ordinance.  Strangely, if the Council were to change all the speed 
limits within the Borough, that can be done without doing any investigation or study, but if it comes to stop 
signs, parking ordinance and things like that, an investigation must be done.  C/P Viker stated that a 
Borough resident who lives on Front Street has told him that the stop sign has drastically reduced the 
speed of drivers in the two blocks that Council was attempting to calm.  C/P Herb asked whether, during 
conversations with PennDOT, anyone came across information that would either confirm or contradict 
what Lisa said regarding these kinds of arrangements either having no effect in controlling speed or 
having a negative effect and being counterproductive.  Mgr. Bickhart stated he came across a copy of the 
document that PennDOT provided to Lisa, and it does include the suggestion that this does not always 
accomplish what a stop sign is intended to accomplish; however, in this case what Mgr. Bickhart 
documented for Council had nothing to do with the traffic calming aspects of a stop sign.  It had to do with 
the safety and interplay of pedestrians and vehicles in the narrowest portion of Front Street at a partially 
blind intersection.  He stated he deliberately stayed away from any of the notions that this was a traffic 
calming measure because it should not be.  He stated he would agree that traffic signs probably are not 
all that traffic calming.  It is great that a resident has already observed that it has had that effect; however, 
that is not always the case because some people on the Isle of Que have reported that some drivers will 
stop long enough to comply and then speed on out of spite.  The goal was to bring traffic to a halt at the 
narrowest, most confining area of the street.  C/P Herb stated this will certainly come up again at the 
Safety Committee meeting, and he appreciates the information.  Mgr. Bickhart stated he will give 
C/P Herb a copy of all the materials.  C/P Mengel asked what comments Jim Cole from Furman Foods 
had when he issues his complaint.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that Jim only called to indicate he was opposed 
to the stop sign on behalf of Furman’s.  The question was raised as to how many times Furman’s vehicles 
travel that road and it was estimated at a minimum of 20 trips per day during tomato harvesting time.  
C/P Herb stated they even run during the night for about two to three weeks.  Pres. Handlan stated that 
the same people who stop at the stop sign and then speed away probably do it at every stop sign they 
stop at. 
 
Update on Foreman/Andretta issue – Pres. Handlan stated the last request made of Council regarded 
the curbing.  She asked for an update on this issue.  Solicitor Cravitz stated that Mr. Foreman called his 
office today, and because he is represented by counsel, under the rules of the Pennsylvania Supreme 
Court Solicitor Cravitz cannot talk to Mr. Foreman without his counsel’s permission, and his counsel was 
not available.  Mr. Foreman wants the curbs and sidewalks completely removed down to where it is just 
level so it would be level going from the street to the property.  Solicitor Cravitz told Mr. Foreman’s 
counsel that this would probably be an unreasonable reading of Judge Knight’s order because that is a 
civic improvement, it stabilizes the street, and when sidewalks are put in they are not taken out.  
Mgr. Bickhart spoke with Mr. Andretta’s contractor, who will come in to take the grade down even lower, 
and that is all that will be done at this point.  If Mr. Foreman wants to push the issue he will have to have 
the court compel it to be done, but Solicitor Cravitz is fairly confident Judge Knight will not make the 
Borough remove sidewalks and curbs when the Borough is trying to get people to put them in.  
Mr. Foreman seems to have hit the wall as far as spending money on lawyers.  Solicitor Cravitz told 
Mr. Foreman to call his secretary the next time, and Mr. Foreman told the secretary that he will not spend 
another nickel with Mr. Weist.  Solicitor Cravitz stated this is up to Council, and if they want the sidewalks 
and curbs taken out that can be done.  Pres. Handlan stated that Council already voted not to do that. 
 



Meeting Date:  September 2, 2008  15 of 19 

BOROUGH ENGINEER:  J. A. Coukart & Associates 
 
Update on pending projects – Mgr. Bickhart reported that although the report is brief, the engineer is on 
top of the projects day in and day out.  He is just bringing important things to Council’s attention.  
Mgr. Bickhart did note that after the report was sent on the 27

th
, on the 28

th
 G&R Charles was notified that 

they are over the deadline on the 2008 Street and Alley Program.  The procedure now is that the 
engineer has notified the contractor that he is in violation of the contract time and that there are liquidated 
damages that accrue to the Borough at the rate of $100 per day past the contract time.  The contractor 
has the opportunity to submit justification for why he exceeded the contract time.  This justification has not 
yet been received.  This may turn out to be nothing or it may be something significant.  Sometimes the 
Borough will waive the liquidated damages and sometimes they notify the insurance company.  
Mgr. Bickhart said the engineer stays on top of the projects on a day-to-day basis, working with himself 
and with Corby.  The engineer keeps his eye on the projects and reports what needs to be reported. 

 
BOROUGH TREASURER:  Sharon Badman 
 
Review Treasurer’s Report for August 2008 -   Pres. Handlan asked if there were any questions on the 
Treasurer’s report.  Hearing none, she stated that it is on file for audit. 
 
BOROUGH MANAGER / SECRETARY / ZONING OFFICER:  Mgr. Bickhart 
 
Non-Police Complaint Update – Mgr. Bickhart noted that Mr. Kelly raises an interesting question 
regarding the lack of off-street parking for tenants along South Market Street who live over businesses.  
Mr. Kelly states he has lived in other municipalities that issue special permits to those residents to allow 
them to park longer than two hours.  C/P Viker stated that for a year he lived in the apartment where 
Mr. Kelly now lives, directly above the Mustard Seed, and it was no difficulty to move the car around the 
block when it had to be moved and he never had trouble finding parking within half a block of where the 
door was.  He stated he would be concerned about setting this precedent on Market Street and he 
encouraged Council to take no action.  Mgr. Bickhart noted that Debra Andretta’s complaint has to do with 
enforcement of the two-hour parking limitations.  There had been a disabled vehicle involved in this 
situation as well.  Also during the summer the intern, Mike, was doing patrols and enforcing parking more 
diligently than before and now he has gone back to school so the Borough does not have the same ability 
to follow up on parking issues.  This is a recurring complaint and until someone is hired to do this all the 
time this will continue to be a recurring complaint. 
 
Update of PROPERTY TRANSFERS and BUILDING PERMITS ISSUED, Janet Powers, Deputy 
Zoning and Permit Officer – Information only.  C/P Anderson asked if the sale of Ott Packaging means it 
will be closing.  Mgr. Bickhart replied there should be no change; it is just an ownership issue. 
 
Notice:  Request for public input concerning Front and Second Street development within flood 
plain – Mgr. Bickhart stated this is part of the CDBG program requirements and part of the effort that 
SEDA-COG takes care of on the Borough’s behalf.  They publish a notice allowing for public comment.  
C/P Herb asked if the reconstruction of the curbs refers to curbs on the west side of the street as well as 
the east.  Mgr. Bickhart replied that curbs have been planned for both sides.  C/P Herb stated the curbs 
appear to be in perfect condition and asked if it is possible to rebuild the street without replacing the 
curbs.  Mgr. Bickhart replied that in a circumstance where there is acceptable curbing it is not replaced, 
but the general rule is that the project requires curbing.  The existing curbing would have to be adequate 
in construction, alignment and elevation.  In most cases the engineer is able to make good pieces of 
curbing part of the project so they do not have to be replaced. 
 
Reminder concerning 2009 Budget Requests – Mgr. Bickhart reported that he left packets of 
information for everyone as reminders to the Chairs of the committees that this is the time for suggestions 
concerning the budget for 2009.  Not every person has the same information in their packet.  
Mgr. Bickhart has tried to list things that were talked about in the past or recently, some suggestions to 
guide the chairmen’s thinking, and some historical perspective on what has been discussed.  The budget 
appropriation and adoption schedule has been supplied, showing the historical pattern of meetings.  Two 



Meeting Date:  September 2, 2008  16 of 19 

special meetings are listed, the first being November 10 for the Finance Committee.  The Finance 
Committee gets the draft of the budget and reviews it in detail and then recommends it.  All of Council 
then gets the budget and at a special meeting on November 17 at 6:30 is the work session scheduled to 
go over the budget again in detail.  On December 1 the budget is tentatively adopted and procedurally at 
that meeting there will also be a resolution concerning the pension payments.  For this year it will only be 
for the non-uniformed employees, saying that Council will waive their contributions because of the MMO 
factors discussed earlier.  There will then be ten days for public review and newspaper advertisement.  In 
the last week in December Council meets at 3:00 or 4:00 in the afternoon for five minutes to adopt the 
budget.  A similar memo goes out to all the department heads, commission chairmen, and agencies that 
the Borough donates money to:  the library, the fire company, the pool, the airport, the Chamber of 
Commerce, etc.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that C/P Hendricks’ committee has some very specific duties that 
can be focused on, so his information has a definite time schedule and it is an important piece of the 
budget in order to get through the 2009 capital improvement program.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that the 
Safety Committee deals with the fire company and would be the appropriate committee to comply with 
Act 8 of 2008.  The last page of C/P Herb’s information package deals with Act 8, which requires 
municipalities to formally meet and discuss budget requirements and other issues with both the fire 
company and the ambulance league.  The Act requires considering more things than just money, such as 
performance, adequacy of service, planning ahead, equipment, etc. 
 
Review and comment on Draft of September 2008 Newsletter – Pres. Handlan suggested using the 
section for comments and concerns for other things if needed, since that was already included once this 
year.  She stated some responses did come in and they get added to the non-police complaint list.  
C/P Anderson asked if the fireworks should be included in the fall and winter events.  C/P Viker stated the 
Shade Tree Commission’s report in a couple places is in the first person but no one is identified as the 
speaker, which seems a little sloppy.  He asked that the author's name be added since it is in the first 
person.  Sheri stated the newsletter will go to print on September 8.  Pres. Handlan stated that any other 
suggestions need to go to Sheri ASAP. 
 
First Friday Downtown Selinsgrove – Mgr. Bickhart supplied a copy of the pamphlet. 
 
Notice:  SU Program for Students Living Off-Campus, September 23, 2008 at 5:00 PM in BJ’s back 
room – Mgr. Bickhart stated this is an informal program with himself, Chief Garlock, Tom Rambo, and 
Pres. Handlan taking part in the discussion.  This is low key, but this is the opportunity to let the students 
know what is expected of them.  All Council members are also welcome to attend. 
 
First Notice of Violation letters under “Landlord” Ordinance have been sent, require written plan 
from landlord to define action taken, steps to prevent reoccurrence and means of enforcement if it 
reoccurs – Mgr. Bickhart reported that Brian Farrell was the recipient of one of the first violation letters.  
Ian Van Pelt is here representing Brian tonight.  The police responded to a complaint and issued a 
violation for disturbing the peace against some tenants as called for in the Landlord’s Ordinance.  
Mgr. Bickhart converted this to a letter notifying Brian that he was in violation of the Landlord Ordinance 
and he owed the Borough within 20 days a written statement indicating what action he had taken 
immediately, what action he was proposing to see that it did not happen again, and in the event that it did 
happen what actions he would take at that point as well.  This is the first year that the Borough has the 
opportunity to follow up on these, and Mgr. Bickhart will be as diligent as he possibly can be to follow up 
with letters whenever the police department issues a violation notice and whenever the Borough receives 
a complaint under the Property Maintenance Code concerning weeds or garbage or broken bottles or any 
other violations of the Property Maintenance Code.  C/P Mengel asked how many letters have been sent 
and Mgr. Bickhart replied there have just been two so far.  Ian stated that Brian was under the impression 
that when the ordinance was adopted in October that it was decided that CK-COG would handle the 
execution of that.  Brian’s concern was not just the inspections but the enforcement of the ordinance 
itself.  He was worried that the Borough may get involved with things and he felt that some things in the 
letter were subjective.  He was concerned that it was not CK-COG that was handling it.  Brian has copies 
of the minutes noting that the Borough would not execute the ordinance; it would be through CK-COG.  In 
the ordinance everything was phrased as code official and every instance of code official was supposed 
to get changed over to CK-COG or they were to be identified as the code official for purposes of the 



Meeting Date:  September 2, 2008  17 of 19 

ordinance.  Pres. Handlan stated this is correct.  Ian stated Brian was confused as to why letters were 
coming from the Borough.  Solicitor Cravitz stated CK-COG is involved with the inspections.  However, 
this is not dealing with the inspections.  This is dealing with the other part of the ordinance, which is 
keeping tenants in check so that if there is a problem at the property the police can go and investigate, 
and if they find that the landlord or the tenants are in violation the police can cite them for disturbing the 
peace.  That only starts the process with regard to the Landlord Tenant Ordinance.  Then it refers over to 
Mgr. Bickhart when the police inform him that there has been a violation of the ordinance at a particular 
residence.  It is then incumbent upon Mgr. Bickhart to send the letter out notifying the landlord that he is 
in violation and requesting what steps will be taken to fix this, and if the landlord does not comply then the 
permit could be pulled.  That is something that CK-COG and the police do not do, but the Borough does it 
through the Borough Manager.  Ian asked if the subjective aspect of the letter is the intention of the 
ordinance.  C/P Anderson asked whether the concern is about who will be judging the letter and the plan 
to determine if it is sufficient.  Ian stated that that is Brian’s concern.  C/P Anderson stated that would not 
be a judgment on the plan; the Borough just wants to know there is a plan.  Ian stated there is a form with 
a section for the Borough Manager to state it was deemed adequate or inadequate.  Mgr. Bickhart stated 
that the generalized process is that someone needs to deem the plan adequate or inadequate.  He stated 
he knows of no way of involving CK-COG in an issue where there is a police violation.  There is no way to 
involve CK-COG in an issue of littering or weeds or things on that level.  Council made it quite clear that 
as soon as things jump into the Property Maintenance Code, all the issues of inspections and violations 
would be handled by CK-COG.  There is a broader base to this than just what CK-COG is able to do.  
Solicitor Cravitz stated that if a tenant reported that smoke alarms were broken at their apartment or 
electrical wiring was exposed then that gets reported to CK-COG.  They will then ask the landlord what 
their plan is to rectify the situation.  The letter that Brian got concerns violations involving the police and 
CK-COG does not get involved in those issues.  The Borough deals with it.  C/P Anderson explained it as 
a building issue, which is handled by CK-COG, versus a person issue, which is handled by the police and 
the Borough Manager.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that he tried to interject that when Council was going through 
this, but it was confusing and Council did not necessarily see the other facets of the program.  
Mgr. Bickhart stated that he agreed that anything that had to do with the Property Maintenance Code and 
inspections and reinspections including a complaint from a neighbor having to do with construction, then 
CK-COG will be called in to handle it.  There are other issues that are covered under the same ordinance 
that have to do with citations from the police department.  Mgr. Bickhart stated he is administratively 
following up on just those levels of complaints.  Pres. Handlan stated she can understand concerns over 
that, and C/P Anderson stated she understands Brian’s confusion.  Pres. Handlan asked who does make 
that call, whether it will be left to Mgr. Bickhart independently.  C/P Herb stated he is comfortable with 
Mgr. Bickhart being the proper person to do that because he does not know who else it would be, 
certainly not a Council member or the police.  The question then becomes if the determination that 
Mgr. Bickhart makes does not satisfy the landlord, to whom does the landlord appeal?  A few people 
suggested Council, but Mgr. Bickhart stated that on this level of issue there would be a committee 
formed, not the full Council.  It is only on issues of suspension of the right to lease or revocation that it 
actually comes to Council as a whole.  There is another level to appeal administrative decisions in which 
a group is put together that includes landlords and representatives of the community.  This committee 
does not exist yet because it has not been needed.  It is an ad hoc committee that is formed any time 
someone would object to what Mgr. Bickhart has said.  C/P Herb stated it is good these questions have 
come up, and it sounds like the proper procedures are in place.  C/P Viker stated if someone’s lawn 
grows to 9 inches, Council does not go down to that person’s house to look at it.  They trust Mgr. Bickhart 
to take care of it.  Pres. Handlan stated that would actually be the police department because they are the 
code enforcers in the Borough.  C/P Mengel stated that the police need a complaint to handle that.  
Pres. Handlan stated she wants Mgr. Bickhart to be protected also, so the ad hoc committee would then 
do that.  Mgr. Bickhart stated this was a concern that was brought up in the discussion and he defined an 
ad hoc committee as being a group that was well balanced, not just Council people or landlords.  It even 
allows for tenants at Ian’s suggestion.  This will be very fair in case there are disagreements.  
Pres. Handlan stated the ordinance is very clear on who does the inspections and Mgr. Bickhart agreed, 
saying there is no question on that.  The Borough has used CK-COG to inspect properties.  C/P Viker 
asked who chooses who is on the ad hoc committee.  Mgr. Bickhart stated it is the responsibility of one of 
the committee chairs.  Pres. Handlan noted that the ordinance is online.  Ian stated that the concern Brian 
wanted him to represent was that the ordinance rushed through fairly quickly.  Pres. Handlan and Council 



Meeting Date:  September 2, 2008  18 of 19 

disagreed, stating it took three years.  Ian stated that at the last meeting when the ordinance was 
approved there was still discussion on making changes, and there was a concern about the details.  
C/P Viker stated that it was published in its entirety.  C/P Anderson stated it was advertised.  
Pres. Handlan stated it was reviewed and it went to the Landlords Association also.  She stated it is now 
being tested for the first time.  The Borough will learn through the process and make modifications if 
necessary.  C/P Herb stated Council may find that there were some mistakes made, although this issue 
does not sound like there was a mistake made.  It sounds like a fair and reasonable process to go 
through.  C/P Mengel stated the ordinance was approved as a working document that could be changed 
from time to time.  Pres. Handlan agreed, stating anything can be changed.  She asked how many 
inspections have been completed.  Mgr. Bickhart stated none have been done yet.  The intern just got the 
listing together to get the schedule set up.  In the interim, if the landlord notified the Borough by the 
deadline date of July 1 it is okay.  Otherwise, in order to register the property it must be inspected.  If a 
single family home is bought by someone who wants to make it into a rental property they have to have 
the inspection right away.  The inspection must be included with the registration form.  Pres. Handlan 
asked if the second violation letter was a similar complaint to Brian’s.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that no, it was 
a weed/trash issue.  The landlord was cited by the Borough police and the property owner was notified 
and responded right away and properly submitted what they were doing.   
 
SU Sesquicentennial Update – Mgr. Bickhart noted that some of the information from this can be 
included in the Borough newsletter. 
 
Reminder:  PSAB Fall Leadership Conference – October 17-19, 2008 – C/P Mengel asked if Council 
should consider Mayor Carroll’s funding request.  C/P Inch stated the Finance Committee did consider 
the request and they are not recommending the expenditure.  C/P Viker stated that a couple meetings 
ago this issue was discussed at great length, there was a motion made that died for lack of a second, and 
Council chose to take no action.  He stated that this is a strong message that Council wishes to stay 
within budget.  This is regrettable in one instance but a responsible stewardship of tax dollars in another 
instance.  Mayor Carroll asked if anyone will go to the conference.  Pres. Handlan stated she is thinking 
about it.  Mgr. Bickhart stated he only saw one subject of interest that would be worth his time.  Mayor 
Carroll stated the seminars on Tasers and gangs are very important.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that everything 
he needs to know about drugs, gangs and vandalism he can learn from the police chief, and he trusts that 
he is informed.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that he did go to a conference last month that had some subjects 
that were pertinent to things that were going on in the Borough, but there is nothing in this conference.  If 
anyone wants to go, let Sheri know and she will handle the registration. 
 
SELINSGROVE MUNICIPAL AUTHORITY – Donald Bottiger, Chairman – No Report 
 
EASTERN SNYDER COUNTY REGIONAL AUTHORITY – Bob Dagle and George Kinney, Chairmen 
– No Report 
 
NORTH-EASTERN SNYDER COUNTY JOINT AUTHORITY – Bill Hetherington and John C. Bickhart 
– No Report 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
NIMS Training for New Council Members – Pres. Handlan asked if the newest Council members have 
gone through NIMS training and testing.  Mgr. Bickhart stated that nothing has been scheduled at the 911 
Center and until the new director is hired nothing will be scheduled.  C/P Viker stated that the new 
members are ready.  Mgr. Bickhart will follow up on this. 
 
Battle of the Bands Update – C/P Mengel asked how this event went.  Pres. Handlan stated from the 
newspaper article it did not seem to be that well attended, but it went well. 
 
Boat Launch Project Update – C/P Mengel asked if the needed repairs have been done at the boat 
launch.  Mgr. Bickhart stated he has information to be reviewed. 
 



Meeting Date:  September 2, 2008  19 of 19 

Spreadsheet – Mgr. Bickhart handed out a long spreadsheet in which he has been tracking the change 
in the value of assessment as denoted by the County for the past seven years.  For Selinsgrove, over that 
time the real estate value has increased by .36%.  In the same seven years, the school district, which 
includes Selinsgrove, increased 11%.  Without the Borough, the real estate value in the school district 
increased 13%.  This illustrates the inequity of the Borough in the school district in that the Borough bears 
the entire tax burden yet benefits from it in real estate taxes a very slight amount.  Penn Township and 
Monroe Township are included to give Council a sense of what is going on around the Borough.  This 
shows that Penn Township is a very prosperous township, with their values increasing almost 32% in 
seven years.  Monroe Township shows a value increase of 8%. 
 
EXECUTIVE SESSION – Deferred until a later time. 
 
RECESS: 
 
At 10:02 P.M. the meeting was recessed until Wednesday, September 3 at 6:30 P.M. 
 
 
Attachments: None 


